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THE SCHOOL AT SANDY
Introduction

The information contained in this report is taken from the Archives at the Texas State Library, Austin, Texas.  No records for the time period in question, 1876 – 1943, were available at Blanco County offices, Johnson City Independent School District, the Texas State Department of Education, and the Johnson City Record Courier.  It is understood that County school records located in Johnson City were destroyed in a fire in the 1940s.  All Department of Education documents for the period have been transferred to the State Library.  

As background, the 1876 Texas Constitution stipulated that State “shall provide for an efficient system of free public schools.”  A State Department of Education was established to oversee schools and the county judge became the Ex-Officio Superintendent for each county.  The Judge was responsible for supervising and reporting information to the Department about the one or two room, usually eight grade, schools in the County.  Independent or city school districts, such as Johnson City and Blanco, were not under the same jurisdiction and system, but had their own boards of trustees, superintendents, and taxing jurisdictions. 

The earliest record from Blanco County was an 1878 ledger report of the scholastic census of 456 children.  There are no documents in the State Department of Education archives regarding the creation and operation of the three small schools referred to as The School at Sandy, located near the community of Sandy, Texas.  Information specific to the three schools, Spring Creek, Hickory, and White Oak, was first located for the 1896 – 97 school year.

The Texas legislature revised the law in 1911 to establish a structure where county districts, not classified as city or independent, became common school districts.  An elected County Board was created to govern, and the Judge remained as Ex-Officio County Superintendent, responsible for convening meetings of the Board, general supervision of the schools, and reporting.
The information below is taken from the various reports submitted by the Judge's office to the State Department Of Education.  A significant number of reports are missing, incomplete, damaged, not catalogued, or contain county totals for certain years and were not reported by separate school district.  In a few instances, the accuracy of certain entries, such as those that have unexplainable significant deviations from previous and subsequent years, appears questionable.  The first typewritten submissions were in 1936, and some of the previous handwritten entries are difficult to read.  The information reported below was selected from a myriad of documents submitted to the department and represents only one incomplete resource in a larger endeavor to describe the school at sandy.

WHITE OAK, HICKORY, AND SPRING CREEK


The document that provides the earliest information about the three schools is the county superintendent's annual report for the 1896 -97 school year.  Spring Creek had 11 male and 14 female students.  White Oak had 5 male, 5 female, and an additional 1 under age student of unknown gender.  Hickory had 10 male, 5 female, and an additional 2 under age students.  The districts did not receive funding from the state for over and under age students, so in many instances, a tuition was collected from parents.


The 1897 - 98 report is missing.  For 1898 -99, white oak had 3 male, 5 female, and an additional 9 over and 4 under age students, and the teacher was Gus Crider.  Part 1 for 1898 -99 is missing, as is the entire 1899 - 1900 report, so there is no record for Hickory or Spring Creek for those years.

For 1900 -1901, Spring Creek had 11 male, 10 female, and 2 over and 1 under age student, and  Ollie B. Jenkins was the teacher.  Hickory reported 11 male, 14 female, and an additional 4 under age students, and Dan Durbin was the teacher.  White Oak was not listed, and not shown in any subsequent year, so apparently, it ceased to exist.  One may conclude that White Oak enrolled a number of over and under age children in 1897 -98, in an apparent attempt to continue to operate, but could not generate sufficient revenue and closed in 1899 or 1900.  There is no information regarding where the students enrolled subsequently.

Spring Creek had 14 male, 12 female, 1 over and 1 under age students in 1901 - 02.  Hickory had 11 male, 19 female, 3 over and 3 under age students.  This is the final year that Hickory is reported and it is unknown what happened to the students the subsequent year.  Spring Creek remained as the only school of the original three. 
SPRING CREEK


For 1902 - 03, Spring Creek reported 13 male, 8 female, and 2 underage students, 5 fewer than the prior year.  Apparently there were changing circumstances in the community between 1902 - 03 and 1907 - 08.  Enrollment increased in 1905 - 06 to a high of 21 male and 19 female, with 1 over and 1 under age student, then dropped to 8 male and 14 female, with 1 under age student in 1907 - 08.  Perhaps some oral or written history identifies the cause of this fluctuation. 


Beginning in 1907 - 08 through 1933 - 34, names of the Spring Creek teachers were recorded.  Florence Walker taught 23 students in 1907 - 08.  Two teachers , Gladys Carlton and Alice Stovall, were first employed in 1925- 26.  Alice Stovall was listed on the 1912 census as a student at Spring Creek, and thirteen years later, she was a teacher.  Also, the school became the Spring Creek Common School District, in 1911.

Four teachers were reported for 1933 -34, Mrs. Burnham, Mrs. Felps, Mrs. Sultermeur, and Fairy Simpson.  Perhaps there were resignations and/or illnesses resulting in four persons filling the two teaching positions.  For the subsequent years, two teaching slots were allotted.  Of particular note is that on May 13, 1935, Spring Creek was designated as a 10 grade school, and probably operated as such for the next seven years.

On September 12, 1942, the voters in the Spring Creek and Johnson City school districts created the Johnson City Rural High School District.  In response to the vote, the County Board Of Trustees, with Scott Klett as Chairman, passed the order to consolidate the two districts on September 17, 1942.  It is not reported whether the schools combined immediately for the 1942 - 43 school year; however, on June 10, 1943, the State Department sent a letter to Judge Clark advising that it had not been notified of the action.  The following day, the Judge signed the order of consolidation and transmitted it to the department.  With this action, the Spring Creek Common School District ceased to exist.

Conclusion

The information above is limited to what is contained in selected official documents preserved in the Texas State Library, and by the time available for the research.  Related groups of documents, such as the comptrollers' records, and newspapers that existed during the time period, may provide additional perspectives.  It is understood that there are written and oral histories, as well as legal specifications of land ownership, that provide extensive information regarding the circumstances and events related to the schools, their locations, and development.  Hopefully, other individuals who have, or wish to gather, data will contribute to the expanding narrative.  The Portal at www.hillcountryportal.com/sandy.html contains additional information and serves as a common focal point for those interested in the topic.
Taken in totality, the information available will describe a fascinating story of the development, operation, and conclusion of the three community schools referred to as “The School At Sandy”.
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